



Nevada Gay Rodeo Association

**BYLAWS
AND
STANDING RULES**

(REVISED March 12, 2016)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

A NON-PROFIT CORPORATION	1
ARTICLE I: Objective And Purposes	1
Section I: Objective – Nature Of Business	1
ARTICLE II: Corporate Offices	1
ARTICLE III: Satellite Chapters	2
ARTICLE IV: Classes Of Membership, Rights Of Members, Qualifications Of Members	2
Section I: Classes Of Membership.....	2
Section II: Membership Dues	4
Section III: Termination Of Membership	4
Section IV: Limitations Of Membership	4
Section V: Number Of Members	5
Section VI: Membership Information.....	5
Section VII: Non-Liability Of Members	5
Section VIII: Non-Transferability Of Memberships	5
Section IX: Liability Waiver And Insurance	5
ARTICLE V: Officers and Directors	6
Section I: Officers/Directors Of The Corporation And Terms Of Office.....	6
Section II: Eligibility	6
Section III: Elections	7
Section IV: Appointment of a Fundraising Director	7
Section V: Vacancies	8
Section VI: Members Eligibility To Vote.....	8
ARTICLE VI: Duties of Officers and Directors.....	8
Section I: Primary Duties Explained	8
Section II: President.....	9
Section III: Vice-President.....	9
Section IV: Secretary	10
Section V: Treasurer	10
Section VI: Trustee	11
Section VII: Directors At Large.....	11

Section VIII: Fundraising Director	11
Section X: Designation Of Signatories	11
Section XI: Expenditure Approval	12
ARTICLE VII: Meetings	12
Section I: Combined Meetings	12
Section II: Board Of Directors Meetings	12
Section III: General Membership Meetings	13
Section IV: Quorum Of Members	13
Section V: Email/Electronic Voting	13
Section VI: All Meetings	14
Section VII: Annual State Convention	14
ARTICLE VIII: Corporate Name, Logos And Intellectual Property	15
Section I: Declaration	15
Section II: Corporate Names.....	15
Section III: Corporate Logos	15
Section IV: Intellectual Property	15
ARTICLE IX: Corporate Sponsorships And Other Funding.....	16
Section I: Corporate Sponsorships.....	16
ARTICLE X: Parliamentary Authority.....	16
ARTICLE XI: Amendments And Additions	17
Section I: Amendments And Effective Date Of Bylaws	17
Section II: Adoption Or Amendment Of Standing Rules	17
Section III: Distribution	17
Section IV: Procedural Resolutions.....	17
ARTICLE XII: Supersession	18
Section I: Current Bylaws.....	18
ARTICLE XIII: Conflict Of Interest	18
Section I: Public Disclosure.....	18
ARTICLE XIV: Dissolution	18
Section I: Assets Disbursed To 501(C)(3) Organizations	18
STANDING RULES OF THE NEVADA GAY RODEO ASSOCIATION	19
STANDING RULE ONE: Royalty.....	19
Section 1: Eligibility For Royalty Competition	19

Section 2: Royalty Competition Director Responsibilities.....	19
Section 3: Competition	20
Section 4: Guidelines To Competition Phases.....	21
Section 5: Awarding The Titles To The Competitors.....	23
Section 6: Royalty Requirements (Titleholders And Runners-Up)	23
Section 7: Conduct Rules Governing NGRA Royalty.....	24
Section 8: Removal Of Title	25
Section 9: Vacancies In The Royalty Team.....	25
Section 10: Royalty Discretion Fund.....	25
Section 11: Miscellaneous	25
STANDING RULE TWO: Financial Operations	26
Section 1: Signatories	26
Section 2: Rodeo Financial Operations	26
Section 3: Fundraising Budget.....	26
Section 4: Trustee Travel.....	26
Section 5: IGRA Convention Registration	26
Section 6: IGRA University.....	27
Section 7: Reimbursements	27
Section 8: Advances.....	27
STANDING RULE THREE: Fundraising Operations.....	27
STANDING RULE FOUR: Member Of The Month / Member Of The Year	27
Section 1: Member Of The Month.....	27
Section 2: Member-Of-The-Year.....	28
STANDING RULE FIVE: Social Media	29
Section 1: Description of Social Media	29
Section 2: Personal Use of Social Networking Sites	29
Section 3: Use of Social and Professional Networking on Behalf of NGRA.....	30
STANDING RULE SIX: Appointed Positions.....	30
Section I: Appointment Procedure.....	30
Section II: Duties Of Persons Appointed To Positions In This Article	30
Section III: Property Manager	31
Section IV: Historian	31
Section V: Corporate Sponsorship Representative.....	31

Section VI: Royalty Competition Director	31
Section VII: Public Relations Spokesperson	31
Section IX: Newsletter Editor.....	32
Section X: Rodeo Director.....	32
STANDING RULE SEVEN: Committees Of The Board	33
Section I: General Rules For Committees	33
Section II: Rodeo Planning Committee	33
Section III: Fundraising Committee	34
STANDING RULE EIGHT: Job Evaluations, Disciplinary Action	35
Section I: Job Evaluations.....	35
Section II: Disciplinary Action	35
EXHIBITS:	36
Exhibit 1: Royalty Entry Form	37
Exhibit 2: Royalty Western Wear Score Sheet.....	38
Exhibit 3: Royalty Western Wear Description	39
Exhibit 4: Royalty Interview Score Sheet.....	40
Exhibit 5: Royalty Entertainment Score sheet.....	41
Exhibit 6: Royalty Public Presentation Score Sheet.....	42
Exhibit 7: Royalty Spirit & Community Support Score Sheet	43
Exhibit 8: Royalty Spirit & Community Service Interview Worksheet	44
Exhibit 9: Royalty Competition Final Tally Sheet	46
Exhibit 10: Royalty Personal Financial Responsibility Agreement	47
Exhibit 11: Corporate Logos.....	48
Logo without Map.....	48
PROCEDURAL RESOLUTIONS	49
NGRA Member Of The Year Selection Process	49
DOCUMENT FORMATTING NOTES.....	50

BYLAWS OF NEVADA GAY RODEO ASSOCIATION, INC.

A NON-PROFIT CORPORATION

These bylaws are the continuous and permanent code(s) of rules adopted by the Board of Directors and Membership of the Corporation for the regulation and management of the affairs of the Corporation and the actions of the Members, Board of Directors and Officers of the Corporation.

The name of the Organization shall be the Nevada Gay Rodeo Association (NGRA), a corporation for public benefit as per NRS (Nevada Revised Statutes) of the Nevada State Code Section 82.021. There may be recognition of Chapter Organizations under separate regional names.

ARTICLE I: Objective And Purposes

Section I: Objective – Nature Of Business

- A. To operate as a non-profit organization exclusively for charitable works.
- B. To engage in charitable activities, whether by volunteering services or by raising funds, whereby the proceeds shall be donated to other non-profit organizations which the general membership shall choose. These include, but are not limited to, organizations which provide care, support and education to persons and families with AIDS/HIV, to children and families stricken by life-threatening illness or injury, to families and communities needing emergency support and assistance following a disaster, and/or to organizations that provide animal welfare and education.
- C. To be an association whose members share a common interest in rodeo, equestrian events, and/or western lifestyles for educational and charitable purposes.
- D. NGRA shall not engage in any discrimination, including but not limited to gender, physical handicap, race, religion, creed, sexual orientation, age, color, or national origin.
- E. NGRA is an all-volunteer organization and a member may only receive compensation from NGRA when approved by the Board of Directors, and in accordance with the conflict of interest policy.
- F. NGRA shall be an organization that receives a substantial part of its financial support from the general public with the balance provided by corporate sponsorships.

ARTICLE II: Corporate Offices

- A. The principal office shall be located in Las Vegas, Nevada.
- B. Additional Offices:

The Corporation may also have offices at such other places, both within and outside the State of Nevada, as the Board of Directors may determine or the needs of the business of the Corporation may require.

ARTICLE III: Satellite Chapters

- A. Satellite chapters may be formed within the state of Nevada with the approval of the Board of Directors and ratified two-thirds majority at a general membership meeting.
- B. There must be a minimum of twenty active members within the said region prior to requesting approval.
- C. Upon approval, a governing Board of no less than five persons must be elected by the members of that region.

ARTICLE IV: Classes Of Membership, Rights Of Members, Qualifications Of Members

Annual membership shall be from January 1 to December 31.

Section I: Classes Of Membership

A. Membership Qualifications:

Members shall be persons of responsibility, integrity, honesty and with a good standing in the community. It will be the responsibility of the Board of Directors to notify the applicant of their acceptance and to acquaint the applicant with these bylaws to the extent the applicant understands and concurs with NGRA's goals and responsibilities.

B. Individual Member:

1. Any person, who is 18 years or older (proof of age required), who is interested in the sport and/or activities involved in rodeo and/or Western lifestyle and has expressed enough interest by paying annual dues may be considered for membership.
2. Shall have a regularly published newsletter made available to them.
3. Shall have a one-vote privilege.
4. Shall receive a name badge and membership card upon initial application.
5. Shall be notified via e-mail when updated NGRA bylaws or standing rules are posted on the NGRA website, or shall be mailed a copy upon request.
6. Shall be eligible to compete in any I.G.R.A. sanctioned event.

C. Corporate Membership:

1. A Corporate Membership may be held by any corporate enterprise, which has successfully completed the application process and has been approved by a majority vote of the Board of Directors. Upon its approval, a Corporate Member shall pay an annual membership fee as determined by the current Board of Directors yearly to the NGRA.

2. Shall be entitled, by choice, to be listed in NGRA publications.
3. Shall have a regularly published newsletter made available to them.
4. Upon request, shall receive one membership badge and one membership card.
5. May be represented at fundraisers and/or events.
6. Shall register with the Secretary of the Corporation, the name of the person who shall carry the one vote privilege at the time of submitting a membership application.
7. Any subsequent changes shall be registered in writing and delivered to the Secretary, prior to the next scheduled General Membership meeting.
8. Shall be notified via e-mail when updated NGRA bylaws or standing rules are posted on the NGRA website, or shall be mailed a copy upon request.

D. Honorary Member

1. Honorary memberships shall be held by individuals nominated at a Board of Directors or General Membership Meeting, approved by the Board of Directors, and elected by a majority of the General Membership at the following General Membership Meeting.
2. Shall receive all benefits of an individual member, with the exception of a vote.
3. Honorary memberships granted at any time during a calendar year shall expire on December 31 of that same year.

E. Lifetime Member

1. Lifetime membership may be granted to a person or persons who have shown continuous outstanding service to the NGRA.
2. Any member of NGRA may nominate a member who they believe is deserving of this recognition. The nomination is subject to approval by a majority vote of the membership at the next General Membership meeting.
3. The outgoing President shall become a lifetime member subject to approval by a majority vote of the membership at the next regular General Membership meeting upon completion of his/her full term.
4. Shall receive all benefits of an individual member.

F. Contestant Member

1. Any person, who is 18 years or older (proof of age required), and has completed his/her application for membership in NGRA and wishes to compete in an IGRA sanctioned event.

2. Shall have a regularly published newsletter made available to them.
3. Shall not receive a name badge, membership card, or a copy of the NGRA bylaws.
4. Shall not be eligible to vote.

Section II: Membership Dues

- A. Initial membership set-up fee for Individual and Corporate classes of membership shall be the amount determined by the current Board of Directors and ratified by the general membership.
- B. Annual membership fee shall be the amount determined by the Board of Directors and ratified by the general membership. New Individual and Corporate members will be pro-rated at one-twelfth of the annual fee per month, following membership acceptance.
- C. Renewals
 1. Notice of Renewal of Annual Memberships for Individual and Corporate Members shall be sent out in November and December, with a December 31st due date. Individual and Corporate Memberships which are not renewed by the end of December shall be assessed a \$10.00 reinstatement fee plus the current year's annual dues. Memberships which are not renewed by the end of January will be cancelled. An individual or Corporate member whose membership is cancelled shall be treated as a new member and must pay any and all fees assessed to new members.
 2. Honorary memberships may be renewed through nomination by the Board of Directors at the close of the membership year (by December 31), with a vote by the general membership to ratify the honorary membership in January of the succeeding year.

Section III: Termination Of Membership

- A. A member may terminate his or her membership by submitting notice of such termination to the President or Secretary of the corporation personally or by mail or e-mail. The termination will be effective upon date of delivery (in the case of personal notice or e-mail) or upon the postmark date (in the case of notice by postal mail).
- B. No membership dues will be refunded upon termination of membership.

Section IV: Limitations Of Membership

No Member shall represent, obligate or bind this Corporation, through their joining, representing, or affiliating with any other organization, without the prior approval of the Board of Directors.

Section V: Number Of Members

There is no limit on the number of members the corporation may admit.

Section VI: Membership Information

- A. The corporation shall keep a membership roster containing the name and address of each member. Termination of the membership of any member shall be recorded in this roster, together with the date of termination of such membership. Such roster shall be kept in the possession of the Vice President of the Board of Directors.
- B. A list of member names only shall be sent to IGRA sanctioned rodeos for registration purposes.
- C. A membership directory (with selected information as determined by each member) may be made available for distribution to the general membership. This directory shall be updated after the annual renewal period and optionally at other times throughout the year as determined by the board.

Section VII: Non-Liability Of Members

A member of this corporation is not, as such, personally liable for the debts, liabilities, or obligations of the corporation.

Section VIII: Non-Transferability Of Memberships

No members may transfer a membership or any right arising there from. All rights of membership cease upon the member's death.

Section IX: Liability Waiver And Insurance

- A. This Corporation assumes no responsibility and the enactment of the waiver procedure shall endure.
- B. Indemnification: The NGRA shall indemnify and hold all directors, officers, trustees, and committee members harmless from all liabilities, obligations, claims, causes of action, or expenses of any kind, including, without limitation, attorney's fees that may arise or be incurred by them as a result of the responsible performance of their duties for or in behalf of NGRA, to the full extent allowed by law.

ARTICLE V: Officers and Directors

Section I: Officers/Directors Of The Corporation And Terms Of Office

- A. President - Two-Year Term concurrent with the term of Secretary and elected in odd numbered years
- B. Vice-President –Two-Year Term concurrent with the term of Treasurer and elected in even numbered years
- C. Secretary - Two-Year Term concurrent with the term of President and elected in odd numbered years
- D. Treasurer - Two Year Term concurrent with term of Vice-President and elected in even numbered years
- E. Trustee - Three-Year Term
- F. Three (3) Directors At Large - One-Year Term elected annually
- G. Fundraising Director - appointed by the Board of Directors annually
- H. The immediate past president of NGRA is eligible to serve on the Board of Directors as a nonvoting member for a period of one year following his/her term as president. This individual serves in an advisory role and will not be counted towards the quorum necessary to hold a Board meeting.

Section II: Eligibility

- A. Honorary and Contestant members are not eligible for an elected or appointed position on the Board of Directors.
- B. Any other fully paid active member who has been a member for at least one hundred eighty (180) calendar days may be a candidate for an Officer position; candidates for Directors must have been a fully paid active member for at least ninety (90) days.
- C. No individual may hold more than one Board position.
- D. No individual may be a member of the Royalty Team and serve as President or Vice President at the same time without prior approval of the current Board of Directors.
- E. Notification of candidacy shall be presented to the Board of Directors by the Chairperson of the Nominating Committee no later than the close of the November General Membership meeting.
- F. The Chairperson of the Nominating Committee shall verify eligibility of candidacy with the Vice President.

Section III: Elections

- A. Ballots shall be mailed or posted online in a secure manner immediately after the November general membership meeting and must be received by the Board of Directors no later than the December meeting of the Board of Directors, with the exception of the office of trustee, where ballots shall be mailed or posted online in a secure manner every third (3rd) year immediately after the August general membership meeting and must be received by the Board of Directors no later than the September general membership meeting.
- B. For all Officers, a majority of the votes cast shall be necessary to elect. A majority is defined as more than fifty percent of the votes cast by persons qualified to vote.
- C. For the three (3) Director at Large positions, the top three (3) vote recipients will be elected to the positions. However, each position must receive at least a majority of the votes cast. A majority is defined as more than fifty (50) percent of the votes cast by the persons qualified to vote.
- D. Tabulation of the ballots will be done by qualified independent person(s) as authorized by the Board of Directors.
- E. If an Officer candidate fails to receive a majority of the votes cast, there will be a run-off election between the two top vote recipients. If one or both of the two top vote recipients withdraw(s) from the election or is (are) otherwise unavailable, the run-off will include the candidate(s) with the next highest vote total(s). In the case of Directors at Large, a run-off election will include the top two (2), or possibly more, vote recipients, as necessary to fill all three (3) Director at Large positions. The current Officer or Director should continue in office until the run-off election is decided.
- F. Newly elected Officers shall be announced to the general membership no later than December 31st.
- G. Elected officers shall assume their duties on January 1.

Section IV: Appointment of a Fundraising Director

The Fundraising Director shall serve a one year term beginning the first day of the month following his/her appointment and may be reappointed for consecutive terms. The Board of Directors shall appoint a Fundraising Director in the following manner:

- A. At the last meeting of the year, the president shall submit a call for applications and/or letter of intent to the membership via the newsletter and e-mail, with a due date of the next scheduled board meeting.
- B. Upon receipt of applications/letters of intent, the President will forward to the Board of Directors for review.

- C. The Board of Directors will interview candidates at a regularly scheduled Board of Directors meeting following receipt of applications/letters.
- D. The interviews shall take place in front of those members who are present, but the Board may ask other candidates for the position to leave room while interviews for his/her competitors are being conducted.
- E. Following interviews, the Board shall select a candidate by majority vote.

Section V: Vacancies

A vacancy, which may occur in the office of President, shall be filled by the Vice-President. Any other vacancy of an Elected or Appointed Officer/Board member shall be filled by appointment by the President with approval of the Board of Directors.

Section VI: Members Eligibility To Vote

The right to vote in any election of the Corporation shall be reserved for all active members who are entitled by the bylaws to a vote and who have held such membership for at least sixty days prior to the ballot distribution date.

ARTICLE VI: Duties of Officers and Directors

Section I: Primary Duties Explained

- A. All elected and appointed officers, except the Trustee, are expected to be at all monthly board meetings and should attend the NGRA convention. The president shall be notified by a member of the Board of Directors of their planned absence at least 24 hours prior to the monthly meeting. Board members not meeting this requirement may be subject to discipline as outlined in Article IX, Section 1.
- B. Newly elected Board members must be present at the first Board of Directors meeting following January 1st, unless their absence has been approved by the President at least one week in advance of the meeting. Outgoing Board members must have their records in order and hand them over to their successors at this time.
- C. All elected officers, the Rodeo Director, and the Fundraising Director shall prepare a written report of their activities monthly. The report shall be provided to the secretary no later than 7 days prior to the board meeting.
- D. All members of the Board shall work to establish and maintain good working relationships with other IGRA Associations, and organizations supporting rodeo or similar charitable aims.
- E. All elected members of the Board may sign, with the Treasurer or other Officer/Director of this Corporation authorized by the Board of Directors, checks, deeds, mortgages, and bonds.

Section II: President

- A. Shall be the principal executive officer of the Corporation.
- B. Shall supervise and administer all the affairs of the Corporation.
- C. Shall preside at all meetings of the General Membership and the Board of Directors.
- D. May sign as the duly authorized agent of the Corporation and Board of Directors, certificates, contracts and other agreements.
- E. Shall be responsible for executing all disciplinary action as confirmed by the general membership.
- F. Shall perform all duties incident to the office and such other duties as may be prescribed from time to time.
- G. The President shall appoint responsible duties to the Directors. These duties may include, but are not limited to: Royalty Competition Director, Community Liaison, Newsletter Editor, Legal Issues Liaison, and Webmaster.

Section III: Vice-President

- A. In the absence of the President, inability of the President to perform, refusal of the President to Act, or at the direction of the President, shall perform the duties of the President.
- B. Shall serve as liaison to all unassigned Committees.
- C. Shall perform all duties incident to the office and such other duties as may be prescribed from time to time.
- D. All duties relating to Membership shall be the responsibility of the Vice-President. These shall include, but not be limited to:
 - 1) Maintaining a General membership roster.
 - 2) Making membership roster available to the Board of Directors, and to IGRA as required.
 - 3) Administering any member recognition program.
 - 4) All membership surveys.

Section IV: Secretary

- A. Shall handle or cause to be handled all correspondence and communications as deemed necessary by the Board of Directors.
- B. Shall inform the Board of Directors and the General Membership of any incoming and/or outgoing correspondence.
- C. Shall insure that all legal in-coming and out-going correspondence becomes a part of the Corporate Records.
- D. Shall see that all special notices are given in accordance with the bylaws.
- E. Shall take and maintain minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors, General Membership, and Annual State Convention and provide a copy of said minutes to the president within five (5) working days of said meeting.
- F. Shall keep a roll of all members in attendance at meetings of the Board of Directors and the General Membership.
- G. Shall perform all duties incident to the office and such other duties as may be prescribed from time to time.
- H. May designate, with the approval of the board of directors, another member to take the minutes at a Board of Directors or General Membership meeting.

Section V: Treasurer

- A. Shall have charge, custody of, and be responsible for, all funds of the Corporation.
- B. Shall receive and give receipts for funds due and payable to the Corporation.
- C. Shall deposit all such funds in the name of the Corporation in such bank(s), trust company(s), or other such depository(s) as shall be selected by the Board of Directors within one week of receiving such funds.
- D. May sign as the duly authorized agent of the Corporation and Board of Directors, certificates, contracts and other Agreements.
- E. Shall sign, with the President or other officer of this Corporation authorized by the Board of Directors, checks, deeds, mortgages and other bonds.
- F. Shall collect and record all Membership monetary records.
- G. Shall provide a current written financial report at all Board of Directors and General Membership meetings. In addition, a current month's bank reconciliation shall be provided prior to all Board of Directors meetings.

- H. Shall perform all duties incident to the office and such other duties as may be prescribed from time to time.
- I. Shall prepare for approval by the Board of Directors an annual budget of known fixed/recurring expenses. The budget is to be presented to the Board of Directors for approval on an annual basis at the December Board of Directors meeting. (Examples of items to be included in the budget—phone expenses, licensing fees, proposed sales taxes, storage fees, Post Office box fees, tax preparation fees, postage, etc.)

Section VI: Trustee

- A. Shall serve as a liaison to the IGRA for the NGRA.
- B. Shall attend the yearly IGRA Convention and all other IGRA meetings required by the Board of Directors of NGRA.
- C. Shall serve in office for a three (3) year term.
- D. Shall perform all duties incident to the office and such other duties as may be prescribed from time to time.
- E. Shall serve as Contract Compliance Officer. These duties include, but are not limited to maintaining contract compliance files as received from IGRA and advising the Board of Directors and the Rodeo Director as to NGRA's responsibilities in this area.

Section VII: Directors At Large

- A. Shall perform all duties incident to the office and such other duties as may be prescribed in accordance with Article VI, Section II, Subsection H.
- B. Shall act as liaison between the general membership and the Board of Directors.

Section VIII: Fundraising Director

- A. Shall chair the Fundraising Committee
- B. Shall be responsible for raising funds necessary to or for the operation of the Corporation.
- C. Shall perform all duties incident to the office and such other duties as may be prescribed from time to time.

Section X: Designation Of Signatories

Signatories shall be designated by the Board of Directors so as to avoid an actual or perceived conflict of interest

Section XI: Expenditure Approval

The Board shall approve all expenditures. Any expenditure exceeding one thousand dollars (\$1000.00) may require two (2) or more bids or estimates prior to approval, at the discretion of the Board.

ARTICLE VII: Meetings

Section I: Combined Meetings

- A. Shall be held at least once every month unless a special exception is made by the Board of Directors at a prior meeting to cancel or reschedule the meeting. The presiding officer shall conduct that meeting in an impartial manner.
- B. Combined meetings may be held in the place of separate meetings if approved by the Board of Directors and the General Membership.
- C. Such combined meetings will comply with the requirements set forth in Section II and III and will provide distinct blocks of time for the exercise of the rights and responsibilities of the both the Board of Directors and the General Membership.
- D. In matters where approval is needed by the Board of Directors followed by ratification by the General Membership, two votes will be required.

Section II: Board Of Directors Meetings

- A. Shall be held at least once every month unless a special exception is made by the Board of Directors at a prior meeting to cancel or reschedule the meeting. The presiding officer shall conduct that meeting in an impartial manner.
- B. May be held at the special call of the President or when no less than a majority (more than fifty percent) of the members of the Board require the President to call a meeting. Every attempt will be made to notify the membership of such meetings within a reasonable period of time, when and if possible.
- C. The Board of Directors Meetings are to be open to the General Membership. An executive session may be requested by any member of the Board of Directors and must be approved by a majority of the Board.
- D. A quorum of the Board is defined as fifty percent (50%) of its members.

Section III: General Membership Meetings

- A. Shall be held at least once every month unless a special exception is made by the Board of Directors and ratified by the General Membership at a prior meeting to cancel or reschedule the meeting. The presiding officer shall conduct that meeting in an impartial manner.
- B. The President of the Corporation will call a special meeting of the General Membership at the request of and/or upon approval by a majority of the Board of Directors.
- C. Roll will be kept of all attending members.

Section IV: Quorum Of Members

The lesser of one tenth (1/10) or 10 of the Members in good standing and entitled to vote shall constitute a quorum at any regular or special meeting of the general membership, unless the laws of the State of Nevada or Articles of Incorporation of the NGRA require a greater number of members to constitute a quorum. Members present at a duly called or held meeting at which a quorum is present may continue to do business until adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough Members to leave less than a quorum.

Section V: Email/Electronic Voting

- A. The President may have an electronic vote conducted for any issue that is not required to be reviewed in executive session.
- B. The President shall only call for an email or electronic vote when he/she can ensure a minimum of forty-eight (48) hours of electronic discussion about the topic of the vote.
- C. If the President calls for an email or electronic vote (E-vote), he/she shall ensure that it happens in the following manner:
 - 1. The president shall present, via email, the items on which he/she intends to call for an email or E-vote
 - 2. The President shall “open the floor” for discussion of the item
 - 3. At a specified time that shall not be less than forty-eight (48) hours from the time the item was opened for discussion, the President shall call for a vote. Each board member shall respond to the E-vote by casting their ballot within twenty-four (24) hours.
 - 4. In the case of email voting, as defined above, a quorum of the Board of Directors shall automatically be constituted
 - 5. A simple majority of the Board of Directors shall be required to pass an item via email or electronic voting
 - 6. The President shall present the item and the results of the vote on the item for the record in his/her monthly report at the next meeting of the Board of Directors

Section VI: All Meetings

- A. Minutes of all meetings of any segment of the Corporation shall be submitted to the Secretary for inclusion into the Corporate Records. This includes Committee Meetings. All such records shall be submitted to the Secretary within five (5) working days of said meeting.
- B. The Corporation shall adhere to any and all Laws and/or Statutes of the State of Nevada now or to come pertaining to corporate open, special and executive meetings.

Section VII: Annual State Convention

An Annual State Convention shall be held within three months of the Board of Directors taking office.

- A. Except as otherwise provided by law; the Articles of Incorporation; the Bylaws, or these rules of order; those rules contained in Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised, shall govern the annual convention of this association in all cases to which they are applicable. The President shall appoint a parliamentarian to assure compliance with stated rules. The Parliamentarian shall not have a vote.
- B. With appropriate provision for recesses and for such special events as may be arranged, the general order of business at Annual Convention shall be:
 - 1. Call to Order
 - 2. Roll Call of Officers and Signing in of other NGRA Members
 - 3. Unfinished Business
 - 4. Proposals to Change Bylaws or Standing Rules
 - 5. New Business
 - 6. Adjournment
- C. Resolutions may be submitted by any NGRA Member and should be submitted to the Secretary at least four (4) days before the opening of Annual Convention.
- D. The previous question shall be ordered on motion adopted by a majority vote of the Convention.
- E. Convention floor rules shall be:
 - 1. Discussion on any motion or business shall be limited to ten (10) minutes. A majority vote will be required for each ten (10) minute extension of the discussion.
 - 2. The question cannot be called within the first ten (10) minutes of discussion/debate on any subject.

3. All motions and/or committee recommendations must be submitted in writing to the Secretary.
4. Only NGRA Members may address the convention floor.
5. The right to vote at the Annual State Convention shall be reserved for all active members who are entitled by the bylaws to a vote and who have held such membership for at least sixty (60) days prior to the Convention.
6. Voting by voice vote, show of hands, roll call of the NGRA Members in attendance, or written ballot shall be the option of the chair, or at the request of any NGRA Member in attendance.
7. Each speaker may only speak once unless everyone desiring to speak has spoken.

ARTICLE VIII: Corporate Name, Logos And Intellectual Property

Section I: Declaration

NGRA shall maintain sole and exclusive right to the use of its corporate name and all other event names, logos and intellectual property as designated by the Board of Directors. Use of any of these for promotion, advertising, fund-raising, and/or any type of solicitation must be approved in advance by the Board of Directors. When necessary, between meetings, the President of the Board of Directors may authorize the use of NGRA Corporate Name and Logos when the use is necessary for advertising purposes, and, in the opinion of the President, will not bring discredit to the organization.

Section II: Corporate Names

Include, but are not limited to:

- | | |
|---------------------------------|-------------------------|
| A. Nevada Gay Rodeo Association | E. BigHorn Rodeo |
| B. NGRA | F. BigHorn Gazette |
| C. www.ngra.com | G. www.gayrodeoshop.com |
| D. www.bighornrodeo.com | |

Section III: Corporate Logos

Include, but are not limited to:

- | | |
|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|
| A. NGRA logo | D. www.ngra.com Artwork |
| B. BigHorn Rodeo Logos | E. www.bighornrodeo.com Artwork |
| C. BigHorn Rodeo Poster Artwork | |

All the NGRA official logos (Exhibit 11) will be used whenever viable. The logo may be used in Line Grey-scale or Color. The three (3) main colors of NGRA are Royal Blue (matches the Nevada state flag, Pantone 293 uncoated or coated), Silver (a warm grey tone, Pantone 428 uncoated or coated), and Gold (a bright canary yellow, Pantone yellow uncoated or coated).

Section IV: Intellectual Property

Include, but is not limited to:

- A. BigHorn Gazette content
- B. www.ngra.com content
- C. www.bighornrodeo.com content
- D. Mailing and phone lists

ARTICLE IX: Corporate Sponsorships And Other Funding

Section I: Corporate Sponsorships

- A. Upon approval by the Board of Directors, Corporate Sponsorship may be offered to an organization that provides monetary support or goods and services to NGRA.
- B. Levels of Corporate Sponsorship:
 - (1) Corporate Partner (2) Corporate Sponsor (3) Special Sponsor
- C. The Board of Directors shall determine the cost and benefits of each Corporate Sponsorship level and may, at their discretion, create other special categories or levels for Corporate Sponsorship.
- D. Funds raised through Corporate Sponsorships shall be committed to the general fund. At the discretion of the Board, a Sponsor may request that the contribution be earmarked for a certain purpose.
- E. Corporate Sponsors shall be entitled, at their option, to a corporate Membership pursuant to Article IV, Section I, Paragraph C.

ARTICLE X: Parliamentary Authority

- A. The rules contained in the most current edition of *Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised*, shall govern the corporation in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with these bylaws and any special rules of order the corporation may adopt.
- B. The President shall appoint a parliamentarian other than himself or herself to be consulted when parliamentary questions arise.
- C. The Parliamentarian is required to attend a minimum of eight (8) Board of Director meetings and six (6) General Membership meetings per year and is required to attend NGRA Convention.

ARTICLE XI: Amendments And Additions

Section I: Amendments And Effective Date Of Bylaws

- A. Bylaws may be amended, repealed or new bylaws made and adopted at the Annual State Convention with a two-thirds (2/3) majority of the votes cast, and become effective immediately after the Annual State Convention unless a special exception is deemed necessary by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the voting delegates to make the action effective at a different time.
- B. Bylaws may be amended, repealed or new bylaws made and adopted at a special meeting of the membership called for the sole purpose of meeting 501(C)-3 requirements. A two-thirds (2/3) majority vote is required.

Section II: Adoption Or Amendment Of Standing Rules

Standing Rules may be adopted, amended, suspended, or rescinded with one month notice at any general membership meeting or without notice at the Annual State Convention by a majority vote.

Section III: Distribution

- A. No later than sixty (60) days following the annual state convention, each member will be notified by postal mail, email, or other electronic means that the current NGRA Bylaws and Standing Rules are available on the NGRA website.
- B. For standing rule changes, notification will be placed in the next monthly newsletter following the general membership meeting at which a rule is changed. The Standing Rules available on the NGRA website will be amended to show any changes within thirty (30) days of the meeting.

Section IV: Procedural Resolutions

All procedural resolutions made by the General Membership of NGRA shall be listed in a separate section of the bylaws. These procedural resolutions may be updated as needed.

ARTICLE XII: Supersession

Section I: Current Bylaws

- A. These bylaws supersede any and all bylaws in effect heretofore and supersede any and all resolution(s) inconsistent herewith.
- B. All rules and regulations contained in NGRA's bylaws and Standing Rules shall not be waived for any reason.

ARTICLE XIII: Conflict Of Interest

Section I: Public Disclosure

All members must publicly disclose the existence of any potential or known conflict of interest between their role and function in NGRA and any other entity, corporation, or organization which is engaged to do business with the NGRA, or which might benefit from the actions of the NGRA in accordance with the conflict of interest policy of NGRA.

ARTICLE XIV: Dissolution

Section I: Assets Disbursed To 501(C)(3) Organizations

In the event that two-thirds of the membership votes to dissolve the Association or in the event the Association becomes insolvent and cannot reorganize, all remaining assets and funds will be disbursed to organizations that qualify as exempt organizations under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Service Code, or corresponding section of any future federal code.

These bylaws were adopted on March 12, 2016.

STANDING RULES OF THE NEVADA GAY RODEO ASSOCIATION

STANDING RULE ONE: Royalty

Section 1: Eligibility For Royalty Competition

- A. A contestant must be an active Individual or Lifetime member of the Nevada Gay Rodeo Association in good standing a minimum of 180 days prior to the beginning of the scheduled competition.
- B. A contestant must be at least 21 years of age, proof required.
- C. A contestant must actually reside in the State of Nevada at the time application is made and at the time of the competition.
- D. A contestant must submit an application along with a \$25 entry fee by not less than ninety (90) days prior to the date of the scheduled competition. Entry fee is non-refundable (see Exhibit 2).
- E. A current titleholder may compete for one additional year. (In no case may a titleholder compete in the same category for more than 2 consecutive years.)
- F. Contestants for the Mr. and Miss categories must self-identify as male.
- G. Contestants for the Ms. and MsTer competition must self-identify as female.
- H. Contestants and titleholders may not concurrently hold the title of Emperor or Empress, Imperial Crown Prince or Princess Royale, Fully Pledged Member of the Sin Sity Sisters, or Mr., Miss, or Ms. Las Vegas Gay Pride.
- I. All contestants must appear for all categories of the competition in person. Failure to do so will result in disqualification.
- J. Contestants must have attended a minimum of three (3) general membership meetings and one (1) board of directors meeting prior to the beginning of the scheduled competition.
- K. Contestants must have singly or jointly hosted a minimum of one (1) fundraiser for a non-profit organization, raising at least \$250 per contestant (in the case of a jointly hosted fundraiser).
- L. Contestants must submit a detailed personal plan of action for the reigning year to the Vice President. The Vice President will enter the plans of action of the winning competitors into the records of the association at the next regularly scheduled meeting.

Section 2: Royalty Competition Director Responsibilities

- A. The royalty competition director shall verify eligibility for the competition based on the above criteria.
- B. The royalty competition director shall, in coordination with the current reigning NGRA royalty and any other committee members he or she shall appoint, plan and execute the royalty competition according to these standing rules.

- C. The royalty competition director shall provide a budget at least thirty (30) days prior to the competition.
- D. The royalty competition director shall be expected to attempt to attain sponsorship for competition expenses.
- E. After Board approval of the budget, NGRA will be responsible for all competition expenses not covered by sponsorship.
- F. The royalty competition director shall procure sashes, crowns, crown pins, and buckles for titleholders and runners-up.
- G. The Board may direct the royalty competition director to take on other responsibilities, as needed.
- H. The royalty competition director shall also serve as a mentor to all competitors, helping them prepare for the competition.
- I. The royalty competition director shall be responsible for selecting judges, tally committee, and auditors.

Section 3: Competition

- A. The royalty competition will be held by no later than the last weekend of February and the winners of the competition shall reign until the winners of the competition are crowned in the following year. The date of the competition will be selected by the Board of Directors.
- B. All contestants shall be required to be present by the appointed call time at the start of each phase of the royalty competition. Failure to comply shall result in a five (5) point penalty per minute tardy, barring emergency situations (to be decided by the competition director).
- C. No contestant or competition official shall consume or be under the influence of intoxicating substances during any phase of the competition.
- D. Judges:
 - 1. A minimum of five (5) judges, which have no actual or perceived conflict of interest with any contestant or other competition official, will score the contestants during the competition.
 - 2. There may not be more than seven (7) judges per category.
 - 3. At least two (2) but no more than three (3) of the judges in each category shall be current NGRA members.
 - 4. Judges panels for each category will be presented to the Board of Directors for approval prior to the competition.
 - 5. Judges shall use standardized scoring sheets (See Exhibits 2, 4, 5, 6, 7)

E. Auditors / Tally Committee:

1. A tally committee consisting of two (2) individuals shall be responsible for tallying judges' scores following each competition segment. The individuals shall not have any actual or perceived conflict of interest with any contestant or other competition official.
2. Two (2) Board-appointed auditors who also shall have no actual or perceived conflict of interest with any contestant or other competition official will verify final tallies for accuracy.
3. Names of tally committee members and auditors will be submitted to the Board for approval. Tally committee members and auditors may be the same people, if approved by the board.

F. Contestants will be judged in the following categories: personal interview, western wear, entertainment, on-stage public presentation, and spirit and community service. These categories may be changed by the Board of Directors in order to ensure compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act.

G. The western wear, public presentation, and entertainment phases of the competition will be open to the public. The personal interview and spirit/community service phases will be closed to the public.

H. Point Values - Contestants will be judged on a 1 to 10 scale. The total points available for each phase of the competition are: Western Wear – 50 points, Personal Interview – 100 points, Entertainment – 50 points, On-Stage Public Presentation – 50 points, Spirit & Community Service – 50 points.

I. Scoring – In each category, the scores from each judge will be added together after the high and low scores have been thrown out. The totals from each category will be added together to obtain the number of total points received.

Section 4: Guidelines To Competition Phases

A. Personal Interview - Judges will be looking for:

1. Poise
2. Confidence
3. Familiarity with gay rodeo, member associations, NGRA and its benefit to the gay community at large.
4. Casual western wear (Miss will appear in male attire; MsTer will appear in female attire).
5. Question(s) will be determined by the current reigning NGRA Royalty and the Competition Director. Questions for the public presentation shall not be provided to competitors in advance.

- B. Western Wear - Staged separately from entertainment competition.
1. Mr./Ms./Miss/MsTer will model contemporary, formal or casual western fashions such as can be found in today's western wear catalogs or in a quality western store.
 2. Miss may not wear stage costumes for the western wear competition.
 3. Presentation/modeling is limited to stage and/or designated area to be determined by the Competition Director. Failure to comply will result in a two (2) point per judge penalty.
- C. Entertainment - Talent competition will be a presentation of country/western in nature.
1. Five (5) minute time limit. Exceeding in the time limit will result in a five (5) point per minute penalty or portion of a minute.
 2. Music selection, if any, shall be either on tape, CD or live. If selection is taped, the tape must be cued, with the selection being the only number on the tape.
 3. Presentation shall be done solo.
 4. Audience will be asked not to tip during the presentation.
 5. No props can be used. Props are any item not worn during the performance. Any item shed during the performance may not be touched again during the performance or it will be considered a prop. Pre-approval of questionable items must be obtained from the Competition Director.
 6. Performances are limited to stage and/or designated area to be determined by the Competition Director. Failure to comply will result in a two (2) point per judge penalty.
- D. Public Presentation - Contestant will be asked one (1) question on stage and will be judged on the following:
1. Poise
 2. Stage Presence
 3. Content of Answer
 4. Confidence
 5. Question(s) will be determined by the current reigning NGRA Royalty and the Competition Director. Questions for the public presentation shall not be provided to competitors in advance.
- E. Spirit and Community Support
1. This category is designed encourage public participation in fundraising activities and support for NGRA events and to give consideration for those activities in the competition.
 2. Judging is to be based on a personal interview, where questions will focus on the contestant's activities and contributions to the community and NGRA.

Section 5: Awarding The Titles To The Competitors

- A. If there is a tie in total points obtained, the winner of the public presentation phase will determine the titleholder. If there is also a tie in the public presentation phase, the winner of the personal interview phase will determine the title holder.
- B. Each category may have a second runner-up, first runner-up, and titleholder (3 per category – Mr., Miss, Ms., MsTer).
- C. A competitor must obtain at least seventy-five percent (75%) of the total points possible (300 points possible, must score at least 225 from all categories combined).
- D. Sashes will be awarded to each titleholder, first runner-up, and second runner-up. Sashes are to be constructed with at least two (2) of the three (3) NGRA colors (blue silver and yellow).
- E. The Miss titleholder will receive a crown.
- F. The Mr., Ms., and MsTer titleholders will receive crown pins.
- G. Titleholders will be given buckles at the completion of their reigns, subject to approval by the NGRA Board of Directors.

Section 6: Royalty Requirements (Titleholders And Runners-Up)

- A. Serve as active members of the fundraising committee.
- B. Communicate with each other, the public relations spokesperson, and the fundraising chairperson throughout the year.
- C. Work with the fundraising chairperson and public relations spokesperson in planning, preparing for, and participating in NGRA public relations events and fundraisers throughout the year.
- D. Report monthly to the Board of Directors, either verbally or in writing. The report should include all individual and joint public relations and fundraising activities for the prior month and plans for activities for the next month.
- E. Represent NGRA in a positive manner at as many rodeos, including BigHorn Rodeo, as physically and financially able (at least one non-NGRA rodeo is required) and be a visible member of the southern Nevada gay community by attending NGRA fundraisers, and fundraisers for other community organizations while wearing a sash, and attending NGRA Convention.
- F. Abide by the conduct rules governing Mr./Ms./Miss/MsTer NGRA
- G. Remain a resident of the state of Nevada during their reign. At any time during a titleholder's year, the Board may ask for proof of residency. If such proof is not tendered or is deemed invalid, the titleholder's title may be removed by a two-thirds vote of the Board of Directors.

Section 7: Conduct Rules Governing NGRA Royalty

"The desire to serve, the ability to perform, the courage to act "

As a titleholder of the Nevada Gay Rodeo Association, you are an ambassador of the organization and a representative on a city, state and nation-wide level.

Approach the title with dedication and with pride. Approach the title like you would a job; a job with four parts:

- A. Fundraising
- B. Education
- C. Raising Public Awareness
- D. Having Fun

As a titleholder, the very essence of leadership is that you have a vision. Remember, rank does not counter privileges or give power. It imposes responsibility.

- A. To establish and maintain a city, state, and nationwide communication, which is informative, educational, and supportive: a network for our brothers and sisters of the C&W and rodeo community.
- B. To promote with power and pride the gay and lesbian C&W and rodeo lifestyle.
- C. To increase communication and understanding among men and women.
- D. Visibility and education to destroy stereotypes, misconceptions and media misrepresentations about the gay and lesbian C&W and rodeos within the community at large.
- E. To provide, through our publications, educational material -a forum for the sharing of knowledge, viewpoints, practices -from a diverse network of men and women belonging, not only to the Nevada Gay Rodeo Association, but the International Gay Rodeo Association communities and the community at large.
- F. To build, strengthen and defend individuals, organizations, publications and businesses within our community (especially against threats to their freedom of expression, freedom of the press, their right to free association and their right to equal protection from the law.)
- G. To develop an outreach to men and women, people of color, the deaf, the physically and mentally challenged and other minorities who have traditionally been discriminated against or poorly represented within the C&W and rodeo communities as well as the gay and lesbian community at large.
- H. Fundraising for deserving projects, clubs, organizations, and/or charities, which have given direct services to the community.
- I. To preserve a record of our history, traditions, and the C&W and rodeo cultures.

These Rules of Conduct Governing Mr./Ms./Miss/MsTer NGRA were adopted on: Jan. 14, 2008.

Section 8: Removal Of Title

- A. A royalty titleholder who fails to meet the requirements of section 6 is subject to having his or her title removed.
- B. Any titleholder whose title is removed shall not be allowed to run for an NGRA royalty position in any succeeding year.
- C. Removal of a title must be approved by a 2/3 vote of the Board of Directors, and may only be approved after following disciplinary provisions outlined in the bylaws.
- D. Runners-up advance if a titleholder has his or her title removed.

Section 9: Vacancies In The Royalty Team

- A. In a case where there may be no royalty competition, or in which a category may not be contested, the Board of Directors may select a past royalty member **in good standing** to fill the vacancy.
- B. If there is no royalty competition, the reigning royalty titleholders' term will end after one year.

Section 10: Royalty Discretion Fund

- A. Titleholders are permitted to conduct sponsorship and fundraising activities for the purpose of reimbursing their expenses as related to their duties as NGRA royalty or as competitors for IGRA royalty titles.
- B. Funds collected for this purposes will be surrendered first to the NGRA Treasurer for deposit into the discretionary fund.
- C. Fundraising and sponsorship activities for this fund require prior board approval.
- D. Eligible expenses are limited to airfare, fuel, car rental, lodging, meals, and event entry fees.
- E. Titleholders may draw up to the amount they have deposited in the fund.
- F. The treasurer will maintain records of deposits/withdrawals, listed by individual.
- G. Prior Board approval is required for all withdrawals. Approved reimbursements will occur when the treasurer is presented with receipts.
- H. Any unused funds at the end of the title year will be donated to the non-profit charity of the individual's choice in their name.
- I. If a titleholder continues to hold an NGRA royalty title in a succeeding year, any unused funds will roll over to the following year.

Section 11: Miscellaneous

- A. Titleholders will sign a personal financial responsibility agreement immediately upon assuming their title. The agreement details personal accountabilities and sets out the terms of the royalty discretionary fund.

- B. Titleholders and first runners-up are encouraged to represent NGRA at the IGRA Royalty Competition that year.
- C. Funds raised from royalty-produced required fundraisers for IGRA Royalty competition will be funneled through NGRA, provided that the event is revenue neutral to NGRA.

STANDING RULE TWO: Financial Operations

Section 1: Signatories

The treasurer shall determine which signatories to include on bank records. Only one member per household may be included as a signatory.

Section 2: Rodeo Financial Operations

The Rodeo Planning Committee shall ensure that monies are regularly deposited in the association's bank account during the rodeo weekend. A hotel safe in control of hotel personnel will be used to keep monies to support the next rodeo weekend event. The Rodeo Planning Committee shall submit a financial management plan to the Board for review and approval at least 30 days prior to the rodeo.

Section 3: Fundraising Budget

The fundraising committee is allotted a maximum of \$100 per fundraiser (which may be used for anything related to fundraising). Amounts over \$100 per fundraiser must be approved in advance by the board.

Section 4: Trustee Travel

- A. NGRA will pay for a trustee's travel to required IGRA board meetings, up to a maximum of \$250 per meeting.
- B. Unused funds from each meeting may be used for future expenses or reimbursement may be requested retrospectively for prior meetings with expenses exceeding \$250 provided \$250 remains available for each remaining meeting scheduled through the end of the calendar year.
- C. The Board of Directors may approve and authorize travel funds for an alternate trustee to attend IGRA board meetings on the trustee's behalf up to a maximum of \$250 per meeting only.

Section 5: IGRA Convention Registration

Within the approved budget, NGRA will pay for all or a portion of the IGRA convention registration fee of NGRA convention delegates and alternates. The delegate or alternate will be required to reimburse NGRA if they do not attend assigned committee meetings or the meeting of the entire convention.

Section 6: IGRA University

Within the approved budget, NGRA will reimburse up to ten (10) members for their pre-registration cost for IGRA University, after obtaining verification that the member obtained credits for attending at least two classes.

Section 7: Reimbursements

The appropriate reimbursement request form shall accompany all receipts provided for reimbursement. Reimbursements shall occur no more than 2 weeks following submittal of the form.

Section 8: Advances

The board may approve an advance from the Royalty Discretionary fund to a royalty team member who is competing in the IGRA royalty competition provided that the royalty team member gives an estimate to the Board and reimburses the organization with any unused funds. Receipts showing how funds were used must be provided.

STANDING RULE THREE: Fundraising Operations

- A. The fundraising committee shall present a list of fundraising events monthly to the Board of Directors for approval.
- B. All fundraisers scheduled by members of NGRA that will use NGRA's name or NGRA's accounts shall be presented first to the fundraising committee and then to the Board of Directors.
- C. In the event of an extenuating circumstance, the President, with concurrence of the Fundraising chair(s) or the Treasurer, may allow members to present fundraisers directly to the Board for approval.
- D. Beneficiaries determined by the fundraising committee or royalty team will be presented to the Board for approval before funds are distributed to the beneficiary.

STANDING RULE FOUR: Member Of The Month / Member Of The Year

Section 1: Member Of The Month

- A. The Vice President shall ask for nominations for the Member of the Month at the monthly Board of Directors meeting (e.g.: at January's meeting, he or she will request nominations for December's member of the month).
- B. Members who hold an elected, appointed, or royalty position may be considered for member of the month, but their contributions must be above and beyond those expected as part of their position.

- C. The Vice President shall ask for additional nominations at the General Membership Meeting.
- D. The Vice President shall hold the election for Member of the Month at the General Membership meeting (e.g.: at January's meeting, he or she will hold the election for December's member of the month). If there is more than one nomination, the election may be by secret ballot.
- E. If a member is present at the General Membership or Board meeting, he or she may decline to be considered.

Section 2: Member-Of-The-Year

The NGRA wishes to recognize members by naming a Member of the Year who has made exceptional contributions to NGRA within the past calendar year.

- A. All members of the month will be automatically named as candidates for member of the year. Any member in good standing may nominate another member by submitting a written nomination including the reasons for the nomination.
- B. Candidates will receive an opportunity to provide biographical information outlining their contributions within the year.
- C. Biographical information will be included with the ballot, which will be distributed by postal mail or posted online in a secure manner.
- D. Candidates may decline to be considered by notifying the Vice President of their declination.
- E. The top vote-getter will be named Member of the Year. In the event of a tie for first place, each candidate receiving the highest number of votes will be named Members of the Year.
- F. Members who hold an elected, appointed, or royalty position may be considered for member of the year, but their contributions must be above and beyond those expected as part of their position.
- G. The election timeline is as follows
 - a. Following the selection of the December Member of the Month there will be a call for nominations in the next BigHorn Gazette
 - b. Nominations are due to the Vice-President at the end of the month in which the call is made.
 - c. Within five (5) days a request for candidate biographical information will be sent out to all candidates.

- d. Biographical information is due to the Vice-President within two weeks.
 - e. Within five (5) days the ballot will be emailed to members, who will have one (1) month to respond.
 - f. The Member of the Year will be announced at the General Membership Meeting.
- H. The member of the year shall receive a plaque, a distinctive badge dangle and a photo and article about them in the following BigHorn Gazette.

STANDING RULE FIVE: Social Media

Section 1: Description of Social Media

This Standing Rule applies to all forms of social computing, comments made on official Association websites and/or third party websites, including, but not limited to blogs, social networks (e.g., Twitter, Facebook, LinkedIn, YouTube, Instagram, etc.), wikis, and any other form of user-generated media.

Section 2: Personal Use of Social Networking Sites

- A. ***No Requirement to Participate.*** NGRA has a presence on certain social networks including Facebook (NGRA and BigHorn Rodeo Facebook pages). Members should feel free to browse profiles, fan/follow NGRA's pages, and link to NGRA's social network pages. If you choose to discuss or interact with NGRA or NGRA-related postings, you must disclose your connection to NGRA, be clear that you are expressing your own opinion, and never speak on behalf of NGRA. You must disclose your connection so others understand you have an interest in the success of the Organization. You should not respond to questions or complaints about the Organization; leave that to the people who are authorized to speak for the Organization.
- B. ***Honesty and Accuracy.*** Any time a Member identifies their association with NGRA, the Member is expected to act in an honest, accurate and ethical manner.
- C. ***Persons Easily Recognized.*** Certain members – especially Elected Board Members at any level or NGRA Royalty Members may be recognized by name alone and be associated with the Organization. Such Members should exercise discretion and good judgment before posting, as comments could be attributed to the Organization.
- D. ***Postings.*** Members should avoid posting comments, photos, or videos that could constitute discrimination or harassment on the basis of race, gender, disability, sexual orientation, age or any other protected status, or that reasonably could be viewed as malicious, threatening, intimidating, or obscene.
- E. ***Confidential Information.*** Please be respectful and do not reveal private or confidential information.

F. *Responding to Friend Requests.*

- a. NGRA Members should not feel obligated to accept links or friend requests from anyone, including any NGRA Member. It is ok to say “no” or be silent
- b. Show Consideration towards other members when using social networking sites (e.g., ask someone’s permission before posting their picture in a social network).

G. *Discussing Expertise on Professional Websites.* If you discuss your area of expertise on professional websites (e.g., LinkedIn, trade association bulletin board, etc.), follow these guidelines

- a. Unless specifically authorized to do so, use a disclaimer such as: “The postings on this site are my own and do not represent NGRA’s position, strategies or opinions.”
- b. Post about areas of your expertise; if you are not an expert on the subject, you should make that clear.
- c. Avoid speaking out against or negatively about NGRA Members, other organizations, other organizations members etc.

Section 3: Use of Social and Professional Networking on Behalf of NGRA

Only designated individuals will be given access to official NGRA social media accounts and are authorized to engage in social media/networking use on behalf of the Organization. Should an individual have the need for access to the NGRA social media accounts, a written request should be made and directed to the NGRA Webmaster. Authorization is given on a case-by-case basis and is subject to approval by the NGRA Board of Directors.

STANDING RULE SIX: Appointed Positions

Section I: Appointment Procedure

The president may appoint any position outlined in this article, with the exception of the Rodeo Director and the Fundraising Director. The president shall submit his or her appointment to the Board of Directors for approval.

Section II: Duties Of Persons Appointed To Positions In This Article

- A. Unless exempted by the Board, appointed persons who are not Directors must attend a minimum of three (3) board or general membership meetings per year. The President shall be notified by an appointed person of their planned absence at least 24 hours prior to the monthly meeting. Appointed persons not meeting this requirement may be subject to discipline as outlined in Article IX, Section 1.
- B. With the exception of the Rodeo Director and the Fundraising Director, appointed persons are required to present written reports of their activities to the Board of Directors on a quarterly basis, unless otherwise directed to submit written reports monthly by the Board.

Section III: Property Manager

- A. Shall be responsible for keeping a record of all property belonging to NGRA with assessed values.
- B. The responsible individual shall maintain safe storage and a list of its location.

Section IV: Historian

Shall maintain a collection of memorabilia from all NGRA functions and activities.

Section V: Corporate Sponsorship Representative

- A. Shall produce, as a marketing tool, a Corporate Sponsorship Package, which promotes NGRA as an organization and details all of the types of sponsorship available. The Board shall approve this package.
- B. Shall maintain records of all correspondence regarding sponsorships and will report regularly to the Board.
- C. Shall maintain a good working relationship with IGRA ensuring that no conflicts arise.
- D. Shall provide each Corporate Sponsor with a certificate and a letter stating their level of contribution.
- E. Shall assure that each Corporate Sponsor receives all considerations due, according to their level of sponsorship.

Section VI: Royalty Competition Director

- A. The royalty competition director shall be responsible for coordinating and overseeing the annual royalty competition.
- B. The president should make this appointment no later than six (6) months prior to the competition.

Section VII: Public Relations Spokesperson

- A. Shall be responsible for arranging publicity for the Corporation's events, through the creation and timely issuance of news releases and through other activities.
- B. Shall be responsible for the external dissemination of information, whether written or verbal, as directed by the needs of the Corporation.
- C. Shall keep complete and accurate lists of appropriate media for news releases, along with a complete and accurate list of the other IGRA associations.

Section IX: Newsletter Editor

Shall be responsible for the production, distribution and editorial content of the newsletter. This content shall include updates from all NGRA committees, other information pertinent to the organization and a monthly meeting and events calendar. The newsletter editor may also actively solicit for advertisements to help offset the cost in production of the newsletter.

Section X: Rodeo Director

A. Term

The Rodeo Director shall serve a term that will begin immediately if there is no current Rodeo Director, or at the conclusion of the third Board meeting following the previous rodeo, if there was a rodeo that year. The Rodeo Director may be reappointed for consecutive terms. The Rodeo Director term, unless extended, shall expire at the conclusion of the third Board meeting after the BigHorn Rodeo directed by said Rodeo Director.

B. Appointment Procedure

The Board of Directors shall appoint the Rodeo Director in the following manner:

- a. At the Board meeting following the scheduled BigHorn Rodeo weekend, the President shall submit a call for applications and/or letter of intent to the membership via e-mail, and the newsletter with a due date of the next scheduled board meeting.
- b. Upon receipt of applications/letters of intent, the president will forward to the Board of Directors for review:
- c. The Board of Directors will interview candidates at the next regularly scheduled Board of Directors meeting.
- d. The interviews shall take place in front of those members who are present, but the Board may ask other candidates for the position to leave room while interviews for his/her competitors are being conducted.
- e. Following interviews, the Board shall select a candidate by majority vote.

C. Duties

- a. Shall Chair the Rodeo Planning Committee
- b. Shall report to the Board of Directors on the activities of the Rodeo Planning Committee. The report will also be submitted in written format to the Secretary to be included in the minutes.
- c. Shall appoint committee chairs for the Rodeo Planning Committee and notify the Board of Directors.
- d. May, sign, with the proper Officer/Director of the Corporation authorized by the Board of Directors, checks, deeds, mortgages and bonds.

STANDING RULE SEVEN: Committees Of The Board

Section I: General Rules For Committees

- A. All committees serve at the request of the Board of Directors.
- B. Committees may have additional duties as requested by the Board or at the request of the membership.
- C. Any member in good standing may attend any committee meetings and shall be eligible to vote.
- D. Pursuant to Article XI, all information obtained or created by any committee in the course of performing its duties shall remain the property of NGRA. Copies of all such information should be forwarded to the committee secretary (if available) and the NGRA secretary.
- E. Committee decisions are subject to review and approval by the Board. Grievances within a committee should be brought to the Board for review.

Section II: Rodeo Planning Committee

- A. A Rodeo Planning Committee (RPC) under the leadership of the Rodeo Director exists for the purpose of planning, organizing and executing the Bighorn Rodeo and related events.
- B. The Rodeo Planning Committee may consist of, but is not limited to, the following Coordinators:

(1) Assistant Director(s)	(8) Bar	(15) Grand Entry
(2) Finance Manager	(9) Contestant Registration	(16) Merchandise
(3) Secretary	(10) Program/Advertising	(17) Media
(4) Arena/Equipment	(11) Vendors/Concessions	(18) Host Hotel
(5) Volunteers	(12) Awards/Buckles	(19) Decorating
(6) Security	(13) Ticket Sales	
(7) Entertainment	(14) Barn Manager	
- C. Committee Coordinators shall be appointed by the Rodeo Director and notification given to the Board of Directors. Any position not filled will be appointed as soon as possible.
- D. Coordinators may form sub-committees to facilitate other duties performed by that coordinator.
- E. Rodeo Poster Contest
 - 1) A contest may be held each year to select artwork and/or logo designs for use in promoting BigHorn Rodeo and related events. The contest should be announced in the newsletter.

- 2) The Rodeo Planning Committee shall vote on the designs.
 - 3) The Rodeo Planning Committee will stage the competition, set and publish all requirements and establish prizes.
 - 4) All entries become the property of NGRA.
- F. The Rodeo Planning Committee shall submit a working rodeo budget to the Board of Directors for approval no later than six months prior to each rodeo. Updated budgets will be reported monthly to the Board and a final budget projection will be presented to the Board for approval no later than 30 days prior to the rodeo. The final rodeo financial report will be submitted to the Board of Directors no more than 60 days after completion of the Rodeo.
- G. All coordinators will submit a full report on their committees thirty (30) days after each rodeo. This report will include problems encountered, what worked, what didn't work, all records and copies of correspondence and a record of expenses. These reports will be compiled by the RPC Secretary and submitted to the following year's Rodeo Planning Committee.
- H. Beneficiaries of rodeo proceeds must be approved by the Board and ratified by the general membership.

Section III: Fundraising Committee

- A. The Fundraising Committee exists for the purpose of planning, organizing, and arranging the execution of fundraising and entertainment events.
- B. The Fundraising Committee may consist of, but is not limited to, the following Coordinators:
1. Secretary
 2. Entertainment
 3. Decorating
 4. Volunteer
- C. All members of the Association shall be eligible to be members of the Fundraising Committee. Current Royalty are de facto members of the Committee.
- D. The Board of Directors has the authority to cancel any function if the proper procedures have not been followed or if it is not in the best interest of the Association.
- E. The Fundraising Committee must hold at least twelve (12) meetings a year.
- F. No NGRA member(s) may hold or sponsor a fundraiser in another IGRA Member Association's geographical territory without prior approval of the Trustee.

Section IV: Temporary Committees

The President may set up a temporary committee to address a current issue in a timely manner. The committee shall be made up of at least two (2) Board members, a number of NGRA members in good standing, and with the approval of the Board, an expert who is not a NGRA member. The committee shall make recommendations to the Board, and after the issue is resolved shall be disbanded.

STANDING RULE EIGHT: Job Evaluations, Disciplinary Action

Section I: Job Evaluations

Each board member, royalty member, or committee chair may be evaluated by the members of the Board of Directors at their discretion. Suggested Criteria are:

- A. Attendance and/or participation at NGRA meetings.
- B. Performance of duties of office.
- C. Representing the NGRA in accordance with the membership qualifications listed in Article IV, Section I, Subsection A.
- D. Willingness to assume extra responsibilities.

Section II: Disciplinary Action

- A. The following steps will be followed sequentially if the Board needs to pursue a disciplinary action.
 - 1. Any member of NGRA may file a complaint about any Board member, royalty member, committee chair, or general member he or she determines is misrepresenting NGRA or deliberately neglecting NGRA responsibilities. The complaint must be in writing.
 - 2. All actions except presentation to the General Membership (see #7 below) will take place in Executive session of a majority of the Board of Directors.
 - 3. Upon receipt of the complaint, the Board will determine whether or not further investigation is required.
 - 4. If it determines that further investigation is required, the subject of the complaint will be invited to the next Board of Directors meeting and interviewed about the complaint.
 - 5. Following the interview, the Board of Directors will determine what action may or may not be required as a result of the complaint.
 - 6. If the board determines that the complaint requires a verbal or written reprimand, the reprimand will be issued to the respondent at that time.
 - 7. If the board determines that the resolution of the complaint requires more serious action (up to and including revoking membership or removing a board member, royalty member, or committee chair from their position), the board will present the facts of the matter to the general membership at the next regularly scheduled general membership meeting.
 - 8. The respondent must be present at that meeting and may present (or have a representative present) his or her response to the complaint at that time.
 - 9. The general membership may vote to either confirm or refuse to confirm the board's recommended course of action.
 - 10. If confirmed, the board's action will take effect immediately following the close of the general membership meeting at which it is discussed.
- B. No membership dues will be refunded as a result of disciplinary action.

EXHIBITS:

FOLLOWING PAGES

Exhibit 1: Royalty Entry Form



Mr./Ms./Miss/MsTer

N.G.R.A Contest

CONTESTANT ENTRY FORM

Please Circle One: Mr. Ms. MissMsTer

NAME		AGE
ADDRESS		
CITY	STATE	ZIP
PHONE	EMAIL	

“MISS” (if applicable, A.K.A.) _____

ALIAS (if used) _____

I, _____, agree to abide by the standing rules of the Mr., Ms., Miss, MsTer NGRA CONTEST, which I have received, and agree that if I win a title, to abide by the rules governing the International Gay Rodeo Association, their members and their activities.

CONTESTANT SIGNATURE	DATE
----------------------	------

A \$25.00 check, payable to the NGRA, must accompany this form.

Exhibit 2: Royalty Western Wear Score Sheet

Mr./Ms./Miss/MsTer N.G.R.A. Contest

WESTERN WEAR

Contestant Name	Title Category	Contestant #
------------------------	-----------------------	---------------------

Categories:	Point Values (Circle one for each category):									
GENERAL APPEARANCE	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
STYLE	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
FIT	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
POISE	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
PRESENTATION	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10

Total: _____

Auditor's Total: _____

Judge's Comments:

Judge's Signature	Judge #	Auditor	Auditor
--------------------------	----------------	----------------	----------------

Exhibit 3: Royalty Western Wear Description

Mr./Ms./Miss/MsTer N.G.R.A. Contest

WESTERN WEAR DESCRIPTION

Contestant Name/"Miss" AKA

Contestant Number

PLEASE CIRCLE ONE: MR. MS. MISS MsTer

WHAT ANNOUNCER SHOULD SAY ABOUT YOU/YOUR WESTERN WEAR:

(PLEASE KEEP BRIEF.)

Exhibit 4: Royalty Interview Score Sheet

Mr./Ms./Miss/MsTer N.G.R.A. Contest

INTERVIEW (“MISS” IN MALE ATTIRE, “MsTER” IN FEMALE ATTIRE)

Contestant Name	Title Category	Contestant #
------------------------	-----------------------	---------------------

Categories:	Point Values (Circle one for each category):
APPEARANCE	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
KNOWLEDGE OF NGRA/IGRA	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
ANSWER IN CONTENT	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
CONFIDENCE	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
PERSONAL DISPOSITION	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Total:_____

Was a Plan of Action submitted: ___ YES ___ NO (2 pt. Deduction)

Auditor’s Total: _____ x 2 = _____

Judge’s Comments:

_____	_____	_____	_____
Judge’s Signature	Judge #	Auditor	Auditor

Exhibit 5: Royalty Entertainment Score sheet

Mr./Ms./Miss/MsTer N.G.R.A. Contest

ENTERTAINMENT

Contestant Name	Title Category	Contestant #
------------------------	-----------------------	---------------------

Categories:	Point Values (Circle one for each category):									
ENTERTAINMENT VALUE	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
STAGE PRESENTATION	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
ORIGINALITY	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
APPAREL SELECTION	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
ARTISTIC INTERPRETATION	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10

Total: _____

Did the contestant comply with Time Limit? **YES** **NO (3 pt. Deduction)**

Auditor's Total: _____

Judge's Comments:

Judge's Signature	Judge #	Auditor	Auditor
--------------------------	----------------	----------------	----------------

Exhibit 6: Royalty Public Presentation Score Sheet

Mr./Ms./Miss/MsTer N.G.R.A. Contest

PUBLIC PRESENTATION

Contestant Name	Title Category	Contestant #
------------------------	-----------------------	---------------------

Categories: **Point Values (Circle one for each category):**

APPEARANCE 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

KNOWLEDGE 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

ANSWER IN CONTENT 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

CONFIDENCE 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

PUBLIC DISPOSITION 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Total: _____

Auditor's Total: _____

Judge's Comments:

Judge's Signature	Judge #	Auditor	Auditor
--------------------------	----------------	----------------	----------------

Exhibit 7: Royalty Spirit & Community Support Score Sheet

Mr./Ms./Miss/MsTer N.G.R.A. Contest

SPIRIT AND COMMUNITY SUPPORT

Contestant Name	Title Category	Contestant #
------------------------	-----------------------	---------------------

Categories:	Point Values <i>(Circle one for each category):</i>
COMMUNITY VISIBILITY	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
PARTICIPATION WITH NGRA	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
COMMUNITY FUNDRAISING	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
NGRA FUNDRAISING	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10
SPIRIT & CREATIVITY	1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10

Total: _____

Auditor's Total: _____

Judge's Comments:

Judge's Signature	Judge #	Auditor	Auditor
--------------------------	----------------	----------------	----------------

Mr./Ms./Miss/MsTer N.G.R.A. Contest

SPIRIT AND COMMUNITY SUPPORT INTERVIEW WORKSHEET

Contestant Name	Title Category	Contestant #

Please describe in detail your activities and qualifications in the following areas:

COMMUNITY VISIBILITY

Participation and activities in support of organizations and events of value to the community as a whole.

PARTICIPATION WITH NGRA

Involvement and participation in NGRA meetings and events.

COMMUNITY FUNDRAISING

Fundraising efforts in support of other organizations and/or events.

NGRA FUNDRAISING

Fundraising efforts in support of NGRA and/or its selected charities

SPIRIT & CREATIVITY

Original concepts, leadership on a project's development, recruitment and inclusion of others

Exhibit 9: Royalty Competition Final Tally Sheet

Mr./Ms./Miss/MsTer N.G.R.A. Contest

FINAL TALLY SHEET

Contestant Name	Contestant Number				
	Interview	Entertainment	Western Wear	Public Presentation	Spirit
Judge #1	_____	_____	_____	_____	_____
Judge #2	_____	_____	_____	_____	_____
Judge #3	_____	_____	_____	_____	_____
Judge #4	_____	_____	_____	_____	_____
Judge #5	_____	_____	_____	_____	_____
Judge #6	_____	_____	_____	_____	_____
Judge #7	_____	_____	_____	_____	_____
Judge #8	_____	_____	_____	_____	_____
Judge #9	_____	_____	_____	_____	_____

TOTALS (*Highest & Lowest Scores Removed*):

TOTAL POINTS: _____

Percent of Points Received: _____
(*out of 300 possible*)

Exhibit 10: Royalty Personal Financial Responsibility Agreement



**NGRA ROYALTY
PERSONAL FINANCIAL RESPONSIBILITY AGREEMENT**

I understand that as a representative and titleholder of NGRA I am responsible for the prudent use of NGRA funds.

NGRA Fundraising

I agree that any funds that I raise on behalf of NGRA will be collected and remitted to the NGRA Treasurer in accordance with NGRA policy and bylaws. At no time shall I solicit funds on behalf of NGRA for personal gain. All fundraising by me shall be conducted under the auspices of events or activities approved by the NGRA Board of Directors. I understand that failure to comply with the NGRA bylaws and policies may result in the removal of my title and forfeiture of future opportunities to compete or hold an NGRA title.

Royalty Travel Fund:

I understand that it is my responsibility to represent NGRA at other IGRA rodeos and events, and that this requires a financial commitment in order to fulfill my responsibilities as a titleholder. Pursuant to NGRA Standing Rules I understand that I may solicit funds for traveling expenses related to my activities as a member of the royalty team in a manner approved by the NGRA Board of Directors. I agree that any funds raised, through sponsorship or fundraising activities, will be turned over and accounted for by the NGRA Treasurer, and that NGRA will act as a custodian of these funds until such time as I require them. Furthermore, I agree that I will diligently and publicly disclose the purpose of any fundraising activities on my behalf as a representative of NGRA. At no time shall I solicit funds on behalf of NGRA for personal gain. Eligible travel expenses will include airfare, fuel, car rental, lodging, meals, and event entry fees. I understand that is not the intent of the NGRA Board of Directors to manage the disbursement of these funds with undue scrutiny; however, I understand that it is my obligation to use funds raised for this purpose as a representative of NGRA in a prudent manner.

Signature

Date

Exhibit 11: Corporate Logos

Logo with Map

color

grey scale line art / black /white

suggested on various uses of color



Logo without Map

color

grey scale

line art / black /white



PROCEDURAL RESOLUTIONS

NGRA Member Of The Year Selection Process

Purpose

The NGRA wishes to recognize members by naming a Member of the Year who has made exceptional contributions to NGRA within the calendar year.

Candidates

- Members of the Month: All members of the month will automatically be named as candidates.
- Nominations: Any member in good standing may nominate another member by submitting a written nomination that includes reasons for his or her consideration.

Election Procedure

All candidates will receive an opportunity to submit biographical information outlining their contributions within the year, which will be distributed with a ballot to the membership by postal mail or posted online in a secure manner. All candidates may decline to be considered. The person receiving the most number of votes will be named Member of the Year. In the event of a tie, all candidates receiving the highest number of votes will be Members of the Year. Members who hold an elected, appointed, or royalty position may be considered for Member of the Year, but their contributions must be above and beyond those expected by their position.

Timeline

- December 1: Call for nominations in the December *BigHorn Gazette*.
- December 31: Nominations due to the Vice President
- January 5: Request for candidate biographical information out to all candidates.
- January 31: Information from candidates due to Vice President.
- February 15: Ballot mailed out to all members.
- February 28: Ballots due.
- March Announce Member of the Year at March General Membership Meeting.

Recognition

The Member of the Year will receive a plaque and distinctive badge dangle, and an article about them and photo in the April *BigHorn Gazette*.

DOCUMENT FORMATTING NOTES

This document was created in Microsoft Word.

The Table of Contents was created using the automatic TOC tool. Any time Articles or Sections are added, deleted or edited, this table needs to be updated.

- Articles must use the 'Heading 1' style to work properly.
- Sections must use the 'Heading 2' style to work properly.

To update the table of contents:

1. Go to the references toolbar
2. In the upper left click 'Update Table'
3. Select 'Update Entire Table'